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INTRODUCTION 

This case concerns the timeliness of breach-of-fiduciary-duty claims under 

the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, or ERISA. By its terms, 

section 1113 of ERISA provides a general bar for breach claims brought more than 

six years from “the date of the last action which constituted a part of the breach or 

violation.” 29 U.S.C. § 1113(1). But, in certain limited cases, the cutoff for these claims 

can be shortened to three years. To trigger ERISA’s shorter limitations period, a 

plaintiff must have “actual knowledge of the breach or violation” more than three 

years before filing suit. Id. § 1113(2). Absent evidence demonstrating that a plaintiff 

actually had that knowledge, ERISA’s standard six-year limitations period controls.   

In this case, the district court impermissibly granted refuge in section 1113(2)’s 

three-year exception to the fiduciaries of two of Intel’s individual-account ERISA 

plans. In 2015, Christopher Sulyma, a former Intel employee who left in 2012, sued 

the fiduciaries alleging that they breached their duty of prudence by making a 

series of imprudent investment decisions that radically departed from industry 

norms and led the two plans to be over-invested in hedge-fund and private-equity 

investments. The district court ruled that section 1113(2) barred these claims because, 

in the court’s view, certain annual financial disclosures gave Sulyma “actual 

knowledge” of the transactions—the specific hedge-fund and private-equity 

allocations—more than three years before he filed suit. The court acknowledged 
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that Sulyma had not seen or reviewed most of these materials (and those he saw 

said nothing about these investments), but the court thought it would be “improper 

to allow the claims to survive merely because he did not look further” into the 

disclosures. ER-20. And had he done that, the court reasoned, he would have 

learned all the facts necessary to know that the fiduciaries breached their duties.   

That conclusion cannot be squared with either section 1113(2)’s plain text or 

this Court’s precedents. Before that section can be invoked to halve the limitations 

period, it requires that a plaintiff know “of the breach or violation”—not just some 

facts that, in isolation, say nothing about whether a breach has occurred. And it 

requires that a plaintiff have actual, as opposed to constructive, knowledge of that 

breach. For imprudent-investment breach claims, the disclosure of a transaction 

(even one that a participant actually knows about) neither constitutes the breach of 

fiduciary duty itself nor communicates the existence of an underlying breach. 

Instead, as this Court has made clear, when a participant claims that “the fiduciary 

made an imprudent investment, actual knowledge of the breach [will] usually 

require some knowledge of how the fiduciary selected the investment.” Tibble v. 

Edison Int'l, 729 F.3d 1110, 1121 (9th Cir. 2013), vacated on other grounds, 135 S. Ct. 1823 

(2015). Knowledge of the investment’s existence, in other words, is the “wrong type 

of knowledge” for purposes of section 1113(2). Id. This Court has thus repeatedly 

cautioned courts to reject efforts to “equate” knowledge of a transaction with 
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knowledge of the breach of fiduciary duty. See Waller v. Blue Cross of Cal., 32 F.3d 

1337, 1341 (9th Cir. 1994).  

The district court explicitly declined to heed this lesson here, and in doing so 

it undermined ERISA’s statutory purposes. ERISA’s three-year limitations period 

is an exception, not the rule. The prudence-based fiduciary duties embodied in 

ERISA are some of the highest known to the law, but because most participants 

cannot be expected to learn from annual financial disclosures or summary plan 

descriptions “that [a] trustee has utterly failed to perform its fiduciary duties[,] 

. . . Congress has provided a six year period in which to bring actions.” Fink v. Nat’l 

Sav. and Trust Co., 772 F.2d 951, 958 (D.C. Cir. 1985). It is only the rare case—where, 

for instance, the transaction is itself a violation (as with prohibited transactions)—in 

which section 1113(2)’s three-year exception will be triggered.  

Under the district court’s approach, however, that framework is turned 

inside out. So long as fiduciaries disclose the bare terms of plan transactions to 

participants—something that ERISA requires anyway—they can effectively 

insulate themselves from valid breach claims by eliminating the six-year default 

limitations period in favor of the three-year exception. Neither ERISA nor this 

Court’s precedents permit such a result.  
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JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT 

The district court had jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1331. On March 31, 2017, 

the district court granted summary judgment in the defendants’ favor on all claims. 

ER-5. That same day, the court entered final judgment for the defendants. ER-26. 

On April 24, Sulyma filed a notice of appeal under Federal Rule of Appellate 

Procedure 4(A)(1)(A). ER-27. This Court has jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 1291. 

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES 

1. Sulyma alleges that the defendants acted imprudently—and thus breached 

their fiduciary duties under ERISA—by investing in expensive, unconventional, 

and unduly risky assets like hedge funds and private equity, and doing so in 

amounts that vastly exceeded industry standards, and without adequate 

procedures. Are his claims time-barred even though he brought them within 

ERISA’s general six-year limitations period, on the theory that he had “actual 

knowledge of the breach,” 29 U.S.C. § 1113(2), thus triggering ERISA’s three-year 

limitations exception, by having knowledge of the bare fact of the investments? 

2. Even if knowledge of the investments is, by itself, knowledge of the breach, 

can “actual knowledge” be imputed as a matter of law based on information not 

directly provided to Sulyma and of which he was not aware? 

3. Did the district court err in holding that Sulyma’s co-fiduciary and failure-to-

monitor claims—which did not accrue until his primary breach claims were 
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extinguished—are “time-barred” based on the court’s belief that the claims “rest 

on bald assertions and a recitation of legal elements”? ER-25. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

A.   Statutory background 

For over thirty years, ERISA has included a specific statute of limitations 

governing breach-of-fiduciary-duty claims. As amended, the provision provides: 

No action may be commenced under this subchapter with respect to a 
fiduciary’s breach of any responsibility, duty, or obligation under this 
part, or with respect to a violation of this part, after the earlier of—  
 
(1) six years after (A) the date of the last action which constituted a part 
of the breach or violation, or (B) in the case of an omission the latest 
date on which the fiduciary could have cured the breach or violation, 
or 
 
(2) three years after the earliest date on which the plaintiff had actual 
knowledge of the breach or violation; 
 
except that in the case of fraud or concealment, such action may be 
commenced not later than six years after the date of discovery of such 
breach or violation. 

29 U.S.C. § 1113.  

Unlike most statutes of limitations, which run from the time a claim accrues, 

this provision is different. It establishes a general cutoff of six years (except in cases 

of “fraud or concealment”) from the date of the last act constituting the breach or 

violation, while providing that a shorter cutoff period will apply to breach claims in 

cases where the plaintiff had “actual knowledge of the breach or violation” more 

than three years before bringing suit. 29 U.S.C. §§ 1113(1), (2). Other ERISA 
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limitations provisions, by contrast, do not demand as much. See, e.g., id. § 1303(e) 

(starting the clock from “the earliest date on which the corporation acquired or 

should have acquired actual knowledge of the existence of such cause of action.”); id. 

§ 1370(f)(2)(A) (same). 

When Congress first enacted ERISA, section 1113(2)—like most other ERISA 

limitations provisions—contained both a constructive-knowledge and actual-

knowledge trigger. It allowed the three-year limitations period to begin running 

either when a plaintiff had “actual knowledge of the breach or violation” or when a 

plaintiff “could reasonably be expected to have obtained knowledge” of such 

breach or violation from reports filed with the Secretary of Labor. See Martin v. 

Consultants & Adm’rs, Inc., 966 F.2d 1078, 1084, 1085 n.6 (7th Cir. 1992) (quoting 

removed statutory language). But in 1987, Congress amended the provision to 

eliminate the constructive-knowledge requirement.  

As amended, section 1113(2) thus sets a high standard for barring claims 

against fiduciaries before expiration of the general six-year limitations period: A 

defendant who seeks to escape liability before that period ends must demonstrate 

that the plaintiff had “actual knowledge of the breach or violation” more than 

three years before filing suit. If a defendant does not meet this heightened standard, 

the general limitations period will apply.  
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B.   Factual background 

1. Intel’s 401(k) and retirement plans 

Intel establishes target-date portfolios and the diversified fund as 

the primary investments for its 401(k) and retirement plans. This case 

involves two of Intel’s individual-account ERISA plans: its 401(k) plan and its 

retirement plan. The 401(k) plan is a defined-contribution plan, “meaning that 

participants’ retirement benefits are limited to the value of their own individual 

investment accounts, which is determined by the market performance of employee 

and employer contributions, less expenses.” Tibble v. Edison Int’l, 135 S. Ct. 1823, 1826 

(2015). The retirement plan, likewise a defined-contribution plan, provides benefits 

that also depend on market performance, but its funds consist purely of 

discretionary payments made by Intel. ER-78.  

Intel’s investment committee manages and controls the assets of both plans. 

ER-65–66; ER-81–82. Along with the administrative committee (which makes 

disclosures to plan participants) and the finance committee (which oversees the 

other two committees), the investment committee is a plan fiduciary. ER-63–69. It 

monitors and evaluates the investment options for each plan, chooses the asset-

allocation models for asset-allocation funds, “conduct[s] periodic reviews of the 

performance” and costs of the investments, and oversees pooled investment funds 

shared by the plans. ER-82.  
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The default investment for 401(k) plan participants is one of Intel’s target-

date portfolios (or TDPs), which are tailored to the participant’s expected 

retirement date. ER-81; ER-118. Forty percent of participants in this plan invested 

their entire account balance—drawn from their paycheck—in a TDP. ER-118. As 

of 2015, more than $3.5 billion of the 401(k) plan’s assets were in TDPs. ER-90.  

The retirement plan is designed so that the vast majority of participants 

could invest only in the diversified fund. ER-118. Ninety percent of its participants 

invested in this fund. Id. As of 2015, nearly $6 billion of the plan’s assets—and, as a 

result, participants’ own individual accounts—were in the diversified fund. ER-61.  

The TDPs and diversified fund are the two investments at issue here. 

Intel radically increases investments in hedge funds and private 

equity, causing TDPs and the diversified fund to underperform. 

Following the financial crisis of 2008, the investment committee managed the assets 

of TDPs and the diversified fund in a way that made them unlike virtually every 

other target-date and diversified fund on the market. Whereas most managers of 

such funds devote only a sliver of the portfolio (if any) to investments like hedge 

funds and private equity, Intel’s investment committee chose a different course. It 

decided to dramatically increase investments in hedge funds, private equity, and 

commodities in TDPs and the diversified fund. From 2011 to 2015, the committee 

increased hedge-fund investments in TDPs by 1,300%—from $50 million to $680 
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million. ER-59–60. Over a similar period, the committee increased the amount of 

hedge-fund and private-equity investments in the diversified fund more than 

tenfold—from $214 million to over $2.3 billion. ER-86. It did so notwithstanding the 

fact that hedge-fund returns have been abysmal for two decades. “[S]ince 1998, the 

effective return to hedge-fund clients has only been 2.1% a year, half the return they 

could have achieved by investing in boring old Treasury bills.” ER-108. 

As a result of the increases, hedge-fund and private-equity investments made 

up a disproportionately large percentage of the assets in TDPs and the diversified 

fund. In 2014, for example, “the Intel 2030 TDP had approximately 21% of assets 

allocated to hedge funds and 5% to commodities.” ER-89. By comparison, the 2030 

target-date funds from eight leading investment-management firms allocated an 

average of 0% to hedge funds and 2.9% to commodities. Id. And that is just the 

TDPs. The diversified fund held an even greater portion of its assets in private 

equity, hedge funds, and commodities—nearly 37% by 2013. ER-86. 

Exactly how Intel’s investment committee reached these outlier allocation 

decisions is not yet clear, because the committee has refused to divulge this 

information. Nor is it clear how much consideration the committee gave to other 

ways of managing plan assets. What is clear from the complaint, however, is that 

the committee’s decision to adopt a hedge-fund-heavy allocation model diverging 

widely from prevailing practices caused the participants to pay more in fees for 
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subpar performance, resulting in a significant loss of investment income. As 

commentators have noted, “the entire family of Intel TDPs has underperformed 

peers because of these allocation and investment decisions.” ER-90. Had the 

committee “selected widely-accepted index funds for the Intel TDPs or 

commercially available TDFs managed by Fidelity or Vanguard”—as the 

overwhelming majority of other plan fiduciaries did—participants would now have 

“hundreds of millions of dollars in additional retirement savings,” and “would have 

billions of dollars in additional retirement savings” by their retirement. ER-91–92.  

2. Sulyma’s experience in Intel’s 401(k) and retirement plans     

Sulyma joins Intel, is automatically enrolled in the plans, and 

invests in a TDP and the diversified fund. Christopher Sulyma worked at 

Intel as an engineer from 2010 to 2012. ER-673. It was his first job out of college. Id. 

There is no dispute that he had little investing experience. Until he left Intel, he did 

not know what a hedge fund was and had never heard of private equity. Id.  

After joining Intel, he was automatically enrolled in its retirement plan, 

where he was required to invest in the diversified fund, and in the 401(k) plan. For 

his 401(k), Intel purported to have just the investment for someone like him: its 

default TDP. According to materials Intel posted online, the reason to choose a 

TDP was to let financial experts “invest, monitor, and rebalance my investments so 

I don’t have to,” thus “tak[ing] the work out of” investing. ER-652, 668. Sulyma 
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was placed into the TDP 2045 (his expected retirement year), and, having little 

financial expertise, he concluded that it was best to keep the default option. ER-63. 

Sulyma is not made aware of his plan’s hedge-fund allocations or 

the process by which Intel selected those allocations. After being enrolled 

in the plans, Sulyma received periodic account statements by mail. They informed 

him that his TDP asset allocation was approximately 63% stocks, 16% bonds, and 

21% “short-term/other,” with little variation from quarter to quarter. ER-118; see 

ER-557; ER-563; ER-569; ER-575; ER-581; ER-587; ER-593; ER-600; ER-607. The 

statements—which were the responsibility of Intel’s administrative committee—

said that the “short-term/other” investments “add stability to [the] portfolio” and 

“include certificates of deposit (CDs), Treasury Bills and Money Market 

Instruments.” ER-558; see ER-559–608 (same). Nothing in the statements mentioned 

hedge funds, private equity, or commodities. Id. The statements for his diversified 

fund similarly explained only that his fund was invested in about 40% stocks, 34% 

bonds, and 26% short-term investments. ER-600; ER-607. 

Rather than inform participants through their quarterly statements that a 

large percentage of their portfolios was invested in hedge funds, private equities, 

and commodities, the administrative committee included these details in some 

documents posted online, including the “fund fact sheets” and documents referred 

to in the summary plan description. See ER-289–368; ER-526–32; ER-538–52; ER 
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635–44.1 Although the statements informed participants that they could go online 

to access unspecified additional information, see, e.g., ER-554, the administrative 

committee did not mail (or otherwise directly provide) any of these documents to 

plan participants. Instead, the committee included a sentence on the first page of 

the statement: “To get up-to-date information about your account, call the Fidelity 

Service Center at 888-401-7377 or log on netbenef its (sic) at http://www.401k.com.” 

Id. And on the third page, tucked toward the bottom, the committee added the 

following sentence: “To access performance information on the investment options 

available in your Plan – log onto NetBenefits at www.401k.com or call your plan’s 

toll-free number.” See, e.g., ER-556. Neither sentence suggests that it was necessary 

to go online for more information, only that it was optional. 

Sulyma did not see any of the documents made available online—either the 

fact sheets or the 2012 summary plan description—and given his lack of financial 

expertise, he testified that he would not have understood the information they 

conveyed even if he had seen them. ER-484; ER-673. Even if he had seen and 

understood the information, he might have thought that the fact sheets did not 

address his investments because they discussed plan investments that differed 

                                         
1 Even Sulyma’s summary plan description did not mention these assets until 

2012. ER-137–234; ER-246; ER-522. And there is no evidence that he ever received 
this document because fiduciaries are obligated to provide it only once every three 
years. 
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considerably from the information conveyed in his quarterly statements. For 

example, whereas one of his 2012 statements said that he had 22% of his plan assets 

in “short-term/other,” ER-604—and did not indicate that any of this percentage 

was in alternative investments—the fact sheets for the same period described a 

diversified fund where nearly half of the “target[ed] asset allocation” was for 

alternative investments (25% in hedge funds, 10% in real assets, and 5% in private 

equity), ER-365, and a TDP where nearly a third of the assets were targeted for 

alternative investments (25% in hedge funds, and 5% in commodities), ER-329.  

It wasn’t until 2015, when Sulyma made a request for and received certain 

financial disclosures from the plans, when he consulted with financial experts, and 

after news reports shed light on Intel’s investing, that Sulyma learned facts 

indicating that the committees had potentially breached their obligations under 

ERISA. ER-673–74. In January 2014, an independently registered investment 

advisor observed that Intel’s plans had been “infiltrated by hedge funds” to such a 

degree that it amounted to “institutional gambling with employees[’] assets.” ER-

88. In August 2014, The Oregonian newspaper reported on Intel’s “experiment” with 

“expensive, opaque and potentially risky hedge funds in its main 401k investment 

options[],” which made its plans “unusual in a couple of ways that aren’t 

comforting” to its participants. Id. Despite this information and his requests, 

Sulyma still does not know the details of the process by which the fiduciaries made 
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their allocation decisions, or whether the investment committee considered other 

investment options.  

C.   Procedural background 

1. In October 2015, Sulyma filed this case in the Northern District of 

California on behalf of himself, the two plans (Intel’s 401(k) plan and its retirement 

plan), and other similarly situated participants in those plans. See Dist. Ct. ECF No. 

1. The complaint focused on the defendants-fiduciaries’ breach of their duties under 

ERISA’s longstanding prudence and loyalty requirements. ERISA imposes “a duty 

of care with respect to the management of existing trust funds, along with liability 

for breach of that duty, upon plan fiduciaries” who administer plan assets. See 

Lockheed Corp. v. Spink, 517 U.S. 882, 887 (1996). These duties are embodied in section 

404(a) of ERISA, which codifies a “prudent man standard of care.” See 29 U.S.C. 

§ 1104(a). Under this standard, fiduciaries are required to act “solely in the interest 

of the participants and beneficiaries,” and must exercise “the care, skill, prudence, 

and diligence under the circumstances then prevailing that a prudent man acting in 

a like capacity and familiar with such matters would use in the conduct of an 

enterprise of a like character and with like aims.” Id. §§ 1104(a)(1), 1104(a)(1)(B). 

The complaint alleges that the plan fiduciaries breached their duties under 

section 404(a) in several ways: First, it asserts that the fiduciaries imprudently placed 

a substantial portion of the plans’ assets into costly and high-risk hedge-fund and 
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private-equity investments, and did so either without conducting, or in disregard of, 

an appropriate investigation into the risks associated with these investments. Second, 

the complaint alleges that the fiduciaries adopted asset-allocation models for 

participant accounts that radically departed from the prevailing allocation 

standards used by professional investment managers and plan fiduciaries. Third, the 

complaint alleges that the fiduciaries failed to adequately disclose the imprudent 

investment strategy to participants. As a result of these actions, the complaint 

asserts that the plans and their participants suffered serious economic losses and 

were forced to shoulder large and unnecessary fees.  

To remedy these breaches, Sulyma brought six claims under sections 

502(a)(2) and 502(a)(3) of ERISA. ER-118–29 (asserting two claims based on the 

investment-committee defendants’ investment- and management-related breaches, 

two claims based on the administrative-committee defendants’ disclosure-related 

breaches, one claim against the finance-committee defendants for failure to 

monitor, and one claim against all defendants for co-fiduciary liability). 

2. Several months after Sulyma filed his complaint, the defendants moved 

for summary judgment.2 They argued that all of his claims are time-barred under 

                                         
 2 The defendants originally filed a motion to dismiss, but the magistrate 
judge—having jurisdiction under 28 U.S.C. § 636(c)—converted the motion into 
one for summary judgment. ER-1.  
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section 1113 of ERISA. According to the defendants, his claims are barred under 

section 1113(2)’s exception for actions commenced three years “after the earliest date 

on which the plaintiff had actual knowledge of the breach.” In their view, Sulyma 

had “actual knowledge” of “all the facts he needed to take timely action” under 

ERISA “more than three years before he sued.” Dist. Ct. ECF No. 122, at 1–2. That 

is so, they claimed, because a “variety” of materials had “revealed” in “the 

aggregate” the “allocation levels” of the plans’ investment in hedge funds and 

private equities to Sulyma as early as 2011. Id.  

And, according to the defendants, it does not matter that Sulyma did not see 

or review most of these materials outside the three-year window. On their reading, 

section 1113’s “actual knowledge” requirement does not mean that a plaintiff must 

actually acquire knowledge of a breach or violation. Instead, they insisted, “a plan 

participant has actual knowledge of facts contained in materials” so long as those 

materials were “made available” to him, “regardless of whether” he actually 

accessed them. Id. at 17. The defendants also argued that section 1113’s specific 

reference to knowledge “of the breach” should not defeat their bid to evade 

liability. They argued that this Court’s decision in Blanton v. Anzalone controlled. 760 

F.2d 989 (9th Cir. 1985). Although that case dealt with a prohibited-transaction 

claim in which the transaction was itself a per se violation of ERISA, the defendants 

insisted that it requires courts in the Ninth Circuit to start the limitations clock for 
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breach claims when a plaintiff first obtains “knowledge of the transaction” or 

investment underlying the breach—even if the plaintiff did not know that the 

investment was an imprudent one. Dist. Ct. ECF No. 122, at 1, 21.   

3. The district court adopted the defendants’ theory and held that all the 

claims were time-barred. It ruled that the defendants established that Sulyma had 

“actual knowledge of the breach”—even though he “had little experience with 

financial issues” and “didn’t know what ‘hedge funds,’ ‘alternative investments,’ 

and ‘private equity’ were,” and even though his quarterly plan statements said 

“nothing about investments in private equity or hedge funds.” ER-7–9. 

In reaching this conclusion, the court purported to draw a distinction 

between “actual” and “[c]onstructive knowledge.” ER-10. It acknowledged that the 

latter—which involves “knowledge of facts sufficient to prompt an inquiry”—does 

“not suffice” to trigger section 1113(2). Id. Yet the court determined that, to have 

“actual knowledge,” a plaintiff could be charged with notice of information 

contained in unreviewed documents if the documents were made available in some 

form. ER-19–20. Claiming to draw all inferences in Sulyma’s favor—that “he only 

ever reviewed the [Savings] statements”—the court held that, under section 1113, 

Sulyma was obligated to “look further into the disclosures made to him.” ER-20. 

The court thus ruled that he possessed “actual knowledge” of any information 
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contained in documents that, though never directly provided to him, were posted 

online. Id.  

The court also addressed whether section 1113(2) requires actual knowledge 

“of the breach” or just certain “facts underlying” the breach. ER-15. On this 

question, the court saw an apparent division of authority within the Ninth Circuit. 

See ER-15 n.9 (noting the “tension” within this Circuit in “defining the standard for 

actual knowledge under § 1113”). The court read Blanton as holding that “actual 

knowledge exists” when a plaintiff learns of certain “underlying facts constituting 

the transaction that formed the basis of his complaint.” ER-13; ER-19. But it 

acknowledged that this Court’s later decisions in Ziegler v. Connecticut General Life 

Insurance Co., 916 F.2d 548 (9th Cir. 1990), Waller v. Blue Cross of California, 32 F.3d 1337 

(9th Cir. 1994), and Spragg v. Pacific Telesis Group, No. 97-15541, 1999 WL 51489 (9th 

Cir. Jan. 27, 1999), cut against that view when the “disclosure of a transaction” is 

“not inherently a statutory breach of fiduciary duty.” ER-12 (quoting Waller, 32 F.3d 

at 1341).   

Ultimately, the court “disagree[d]” with Ziegler, Waller, and Spragg and chose 

to follow Blanton. ER-12. In the court’s view, Waller does not control because it was 

decided on a motion to dismiss (not summary judgment), and Spragg is not binding 

because it relied on Waller’s use of a “cf.” cite. ER-12–13. The court justified this 

choice by tallying out-of-circuit references to both lines of cases, explaining that, 
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“[w]hen other appellate courts have discussed the circuit split that exists regarding 

the actual knowledge standard, they have consistently cited Blanton, not Waller, as 

evidence of the Ninth Circuit’s standard.” See ER-15 n.9.  

Applying Blanton, the district court held that the limitations clock had started 

to run on all claims more than three years before Sulyma filed suit. The court first 

attempted to “isolate and define the underlying violation.” ER-14 (quoting Ziegler, 

916 F.2d at 550–51). It saw Sulyma’s claims as focused on two primary ways in which 

the fiduciaries breached their duty of prudence: (1) “by investing a significant 

portion of assets in hedge funds and private equity, ‘which presented 

unconventional, significant and undue risks and unduly high fees and costs,’” and 

(2) “by ‘adopting asset allocation models and asset allocations for participant 

accounts that departed dramatically from’ industry standards.” ER-14–15 (quoting 

ER-58). These claims, the court noted, included both substance- and process-based 

components. See ER-14–15.  

The court began with Sulyma’s “substantive claim for breach of fiduciary 

duty.” Id. In its view, that aspect of his claim, which centered on the “imprudent 

allocation” in hedge funds and private equity investments, ER-24, was time-barred 

because certain “financial disclosures” and “targeted emails” provided sufficient 

“information about plan asset allocation and an overview of the logic behind 

investment strategy” to charge Sulyma with actual knowledge. ER-15 (explaining 
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that these materials “provided Sulyma notice of how his investments were 

allocated”). The court acknowledged that these documents “did not disclose the 

allocation[s]” all that “well,” but concluded that, taken together, they “informed 

plan participants” that the plans “contained the alternative investments” now 

alleged to be imprudent and that this is enough under section 1113(2). ER-16–20.3 In 

so concluding, the court disregarded Sulyma’s specific argument that his breach 

claims, as alleged, are not based on a contention that the investment of hedge funds 

or alternatives was per se imprudent. See Dist. Ct. ECF No. 134, at 13–15. 

The district court also held that any “process-based” claims were likewise 

time-barred. ER-20; see ER-15 (holding that Sulyma had actual knowledge of the 

alleged breach, “whether substantive or procedural”). Here, though, the court took 

a different approach. Although it recognized the settled rule that, “to find actual 

knowledge that a fiduciary imprudently invested funds, such a finding will ‘usually 

require some knowledge of how the fiduciary selected the investment,’” it faulted 

Sulyma for “provid[ing] no facts to support a process claim.” Id. The court 

understood that his claim hinged in part on the defendants’ allegedly imprudent 

                                         
 3  For Sulyma’s claims that the administrative-committee defendants 
breached their fiduciary duties by inadequately disclosing the high costs and fees 
associated with the hedge-fund investments, the court concluded that the same 
disclosures likewise barred these claims. ER-22–24. Because it “found that Sulyma 
had actual knowledge of the elements of his imprudent allocation claims in 2012,” 
the court held that the “inadequate disclosure claims tied to when he had sufficient 
information to bring the imprudent allocation claims are similarly time-barred.” Id. 
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decision to adopt the “asset allocation models” and “asset allocations” even though 

they “‘departed dramatically’ from industry standards.” ER-15. And the court 

noted that Sulyma specifically alleged that the defendants either “disregarded” or 

“failed to give appropriate consideration” to the “well-known risks associated” with 

hedge funds and private equity when they selected the investments and maintained 

them at the specific allocation amounts in the plans. ER-21.  

The district court nonetheless ruled that these “statements” in the complaint 

are conclusory and do not “allege problems with how Defendants made the decision 

to invest in alternative investments.” ER-20–22 (concluding that the complaint does 

not “allege[] a specifically flawed or fraudulent process”). Because Sulyma had “not 

presented any evidence suggesting any infirmity in the process used to select the 

investments” or in their amounts, the court found that the process-based claims 

were barred. ER-21. It reached this result despite the fact that Sulyma (1) requested, 

but did not receive, relevant process-based documents before filing the complaint, 

ER-673–74, and (2) had yet to be granted any post-filing discovery on the issue. 

Finally, the court held that Sulyma’s co-fiduciary and failure-to-monitor 

breach claims were also time-barred. Sulyma had argued that these claims “did not 

accrue until 2015,” ER-24–25, but the court refused to allow them to proceed. In its 

view, these claims were time-barred because they “rest[ed]” on “bald assertions” 

and contained no supporting factual allegations. ER-25. The court also concluded 
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that Sulyma’s accrual argument was “unpersuasive,” reasoning only that no in-

circuit case law supported the argument and finding, without elaboration, that the 

out-of-circuit cases that did so were “factually distinguishable.” Id.  

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

I. ERISA’s general limitations period is six years from the last action 

constituting part of the breach or violation. But an exception bars otherwise timely 

claims in the limited scenario when the plaintiff had “actual knowledge of the 

breach or violation” three years before filing suit. 29 U.S.C. § 1113(2). 

The district court held that this exception applies here. It reasoned that 

Sulyma gained actual knowledge that his fiduciaries breached their duty to make 

prudent investments at the time he learned of the “transactions” underlying the 

breach—that is, the bare terms of the investments. That holding is reversible error. 

A.1. This Court has consistently applied section 1113(2)’s exception in keeping 

with its text—as requiring “actual knowledge of the alleged breach of fiduciary 

duty.” Waller, 32 F.3d at 1341; see Tibble, 729 F.3d 1110; Spragg, 1999 WL 51489. 

2. When the plaintiff alleges that a fiduciary acted imprudently in selecting 

investments, the breach question “requires consideration of both the substantive 

reasonableness of the fiduciary’s actions and the procedures by which the fiduciary 

made its decision.” Fish v. GreatBanc Trust Co., 749 F.3d 671, 680 (7th Cir. 2014). This 

inquiry is “context specific,” Fifth Third Bancorp v. Dudenhoeffer, 134 S. Ct. 2459, 2471 
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(2014), and requires knowledge of “all relevant circumstances,” Roth v. Sawyer-Cleator 

Lumber Co., 16 F.3d 915, 921 (8th Cir. 1994). For imprudent-breach claims, therefore, 

“actual knowledge of the breach [will] usually require some knowledge of how the 

fiduciary selected the investment,” Tibble, 729 F.3d at 1121, as well other relevant 

circumstances establishing the investment’s imprudence. See Waller, 32 F.3d at 1341. 

B. The district court’s decision conflicts with this precedent. By “equat[ing] 

knowledge of the [investments] with actual knowledge of the alleged breach,” id., 

the court did the very thing this Court refused to do in Waller and Tibble. The only 

support it offered for its departure from settled precedent and the statutory text was 

Blanton, 760 F.2d 989. But Blanton involved a claim alleging a prohibited transaction, 

where the transaction is itself the “violation” under section 1113(2). It did not involve 

claims that “the fiduciary made an imprudent investment.” Tibble, 729 F.3d at 1121. 

C. Under the correct standard, ERISA’s exception does not apply because 

Sulyma did not have actual knowledge of the breach three years before filing suit.  

1. At that time, his quarterly statements informed him that about 21% of his 

assets were in investments other than stocks and bonds. He knew nothing else. 

Even assuming he knew that the actual percentage was much higher and the 

investments were in hedge funds and private equity, he did not know how this 

allocation compared to similar funds offered by other fiduciaries—i.e., that his 

plans were designed to have 30% and 40% in these investments, while peer funds 
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had an average of under 3%. He did not know that the investments were 

“unconventional,” presented “undue risks,” had “unduly high fees and costs,” and 

contravened prevailing “industry standards.” ER-14–15. Because these facts are 

critical to his breach claim, he did not have actual knowledge of the breach. 

2.  Nor did he have actual knowledge of the other key aspect of his breach 

claim: that the fiduciaries failed “to properly conduct a prudent investigation” 

before selecting the investments, and did so “without appropriate consideration of 

[the relevant] facts and circumstances.” ER-60; ER-73; ER-105; ER-120. This Court 

has previously refused to dismiss a breach claim containing procedural allegations 

as time-barred when the plaintiff had no “knowledge of how the fiduciary selected 

the investment.” Tibble, 729 F.3d at 1121. It should do the same here.  

II. Even if the district court were right that knowledge of the investment 

equals “knowledge of the breach” in an imprudent-investment case, it still erred by 

applying an incorrect standard of “actual knowledge.” The court did not find that 

Sulyma actually knew of the plans’ investments in hedge funds and private equity, 

but instead “attribute[d] actual knowledge” to him based on disclosures “made 

available” online. ER-8. But Sulyma “never looked at [these] documents” and had 

no actual knowledge of their contents. Id. By imputing knowledge to him that he 

did not actually have, the court applied a constructive-knowledge standard instead 

of the “actual knowledge” standard demanded by the statute. 
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III.A. The court also erred by finding that Sulyma’s co-fiduciary and failure-

to-monitor claims are time-barred. Rather than apply the limitations analysis 

required by ERISA, the court rejected the claims because it thought them to “rest 

on bald assertions and a recitation of legal elements.” ER-25. That is improper. 

B. The proper standard for evaluating these two claims allows for only one 

answer: the claims are timely because they did not accrue until Sulyma’s primary-

breach claims were extinguished, which could not have happened before 2015. 

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

This Court reviews a grant of summary judgment and dismissal of an action 

on statute-of-limitations grounds de novo. Harding v. Galceran, 889 F.2d 906, 907 (9th 

Cir. 1989). In conducting this review, it “must determine, viewing the evidence in 

the light most favorable to the nonmoving party, whether there are any genuine 

issues of material fact, and whether the district court correctly applied the relevant 

substantive law.” Jesinger v. Nev. Fed. Credit Union, 24 F.3d 1127, 1130 (9th Cir. 1994).  

ARGUMENT 

I.   The district court misapplied the standard for “actual 
knowledge of the breach” under section 1113(2).  

ERISA contains its own statute of limitations governing breach-of-fiduciary-

duty claims. The default rule bars any action brought more than six years after 

“the date of the last action which constituted a part of the breach or violation.” 29 

U.S.C. § 1113(1). But the statute also includes an exception: It bars an otherwise 
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timely action if it is commenced more than “three years after the earliest date on 

which the plaintiff had actual knowledge of the breach or violation.” Id. § 1113(2).  

This appeal turns on the meaning of “actual knowledge” for purposes of this 

exception. The district court held that, for claims alleging that a fiduciary breached 

its duties by making imprudent investments, the three-year clock is triggered when 

a plaintiff learns of the transactions underlying the breach. ER-15. That approach 

cannot be reconciled with either the statutory text or the nature of an imprudent-

investment claim. To set off ERISA’s three-year exception, a plaintiff must know of 

the actual breach—here, that the investments were actually imprudent. That 

standard, as applied to Sulyma’s imprudent-investment claims, cannot be satisfied 

by knowledge of the underlying transactions.  

A.   Actual knowledge requires “knowledge of the breach.” 

1. By its terms, section 1113(2)’s exception is triggered only once a plaintiff has 

“actual knowledge of the breach or violation.” Although this language has 

generated some confusion among the circuits, this Court has followed “the 

language of the statute” and consistently held that the exception does not kick in 

“until the time” a plaintiff “gain[s] actual knowledge of the alleged breach of 

fiduciary duty.” Waller, 32 F.3d at 1341; see Tibble, 729 F.3d at 1119, 1121 (holding that, 

for the “shorter three-year period” to apply, “actual knowledge of the breach” is 

required); Spragg, 1999 WL 51489, at *3 (“[Section 1113(2)] requires knowledge of the 
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breach of duty.”); Ziegler, 916 F.3d at 552 (“stress[ing]” that section 1113(2)’s period 

“cannot begin to run until the plaintiff has actual knowledge of the breach”). 

As a practical matter, section 1113(2)’s text therefore establishes a 

“prerequisite”—the “plaintiff’s knowledge of the breach”—“before the statute can 

begin to run.” Id. A court faced with a claim that section 1113’s three-year period—

rather than its generally applicable six-year term—bars a fiduciary-breach claim 

must do just what the statute says: determine whether the plaintiff acquired “actual 

knowledge of the breach” more than three years before filing suit. See Tibble, 729 

F.3d at 1120 (explaining that, in applying section 1113(2), a “court must inquire as to 

when plaintiffs had actual knowledge of th[e] violation or breach”). If the 

defendant cannot establish this, the usual rule applies. 

This straightforward approach is not only controlling within this Circuit, but 

it also “fits most comfortably within the overall statutory framework of ERISA.” 

Fish, 749 F.3d at 687. As courts have explained, “nothing” in ERISA’s “language or 

goals indicates that courts are to read into [section 1113] anything more than its 

plain meaning.” Brock v. Nellis, 809 F.2d 753, 755 (11th Cir. 1987). To charge a plaintiff 

with actual knowledge of a breach, then, “it is not enough that he had notice that 

something was awry; he must have had specific knowledge of the actual breach of 

duty upon which he sues.” Id. In this way, section 1113(2) imposes an “exceptional” 

trigger before it will reduce by half the time a plaintiff has to bring a claim against a 
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fiduciary: Unlike “[m]ost statutes of limitations,” which “run from the time a claim 

accrues,” section 1113(2) will not run unless the plaintiff has learned of facts sufficient 

to know of the specific breach or violation. Fish, 749 F.3d at 679 n.3.  

This framework “reflects Congress’[s] determination to impress upon those 

vested with the control of pension funds the importance of the trust they hold.” 

Brock, 809 F.2d at 754. By establishing a broad six-year period for breach claims that 

can be shortened only by showing that a plaintiff actually knew of the breach or 

violation more than three years before suing, Congress made clear that it “did not 

desire that those who violate that trust could easily find refuge in a time bar.” Id.  

2. The key question on appeal is how this standard applies to imprudent-

investment claims. Twenty-five years ago, in Waller, this Court made clear that, for 

such claims, “actual knowledge of the alleged breach of fiduciary duty” requires 

more than just knowledge of the particular transaction or investment. 32 F.3d at 

1341. That is true because, although it is “difficult to say in the abstract precisely 

what constitutes ‘actual knowledge’ of a ‘breach or violation,’” Edes v. Verizon 

Commc’ns, 417 F.3d 133, 141 (1st Cir. 2005), establishing a breach of the “prudent man” 

standard embodied in 29 U.S.C. § 1104(a)(1)(B) requires more than just evidence of 

the investment itself. A breach occurs only if the fiduciaries, “at the time they 

engaged in the challenged transactions,” failed to “employ[] the appropriate 

methods to investigate the merits of the investment and to structure the 
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investment.” Donovan v. Mazzola, 716 F.2d 1226, 1232 (9th Cir. 1983); see also DiFelice v. 

U.S. Airways, Inc., 496 F.3d 410, 420 (4th Cir. 2007) (explaining that a court “must ask 

whether the fiduciary engaged in a reasoned decisionmaking process, consistent 

with that of a ‘prudent man acting in like capacity’”). 

Under this standard, “[w]hether an ERISA fiduciary has acted prudently 

requires consideration of both the substantive reasonableness of the fiduciary’s 

actions and the procedures by which the fiduciary made its decision.” Fish, 749 F.3d 

at 680. It is an objective question that “will necessarily be context specific,” Fifth 

Third Bancorp, 134 S. Ct. at 2471, requiring knowledge of “all relevant 

circumstances,” not knowledge of the investments alone, see Roth, 16 F.3d at 921 

(“There is no formula . . . for determining whether an ERISA fiduciary’s conduct 

was reasonable, so the court should take into account all relevant circumstances.”). 

To know that a fiduciary committed a breach of its duty of prudence by including 

an investment (or several investments) in a plan, in other words, a plaintiff must 

know more than just “the transaction in connection” with the breach. Fernandez v. 

K-M Indus. Holding Co., Inc., 585 F. Supp. 2d 1177, 1186 (N.D. Cal. 2008). 

Were it otherwise, ERISA’s duty of prudence could be breached merely by 

the inclusion of a particular investment. But such a “per se approach is directly at 

odds” with both case law and ERISA itself. Tatum v. RJR Pension Inv. Comm., 761 

F.3d 346, 360 (4th Cir. 2014). As the Department of Labor has explained, “a 
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particular investment” cannot “be deemed per se prudent or per se imprudent based 

on its level of risk.” See id. (quoting Investment of Plan Assets under the “Prudence” 

Rule, 44 Fed. Reg. 37,221, 37,225 (June 26, 1979)). To the contrary, the prudence 

analysis “focus[es] on a fiduciary’s conduct in arriving at an investment decision, 

not on its results.” In re Unisys Sav. Plan Litig., 74 F.3d 420, 434 (3d Cir. 1996); see also 

Fink, 772 F.2d at 957 (“A fiduciary’s independent investigation of the merits of a 

particular investment is at the heart of the prudent person standard.”). As a result, 

“the terms of a transaction alone” will “only rarely provide actual knowledge under 

section 1113(2).” Fish, 749 F.3 at 681 n.4 (rejecting the idea that the disclosure of “the 

bare terms” of a transaction or investment would be sufficient to demonstrate a 

breach and trigger section 1113(2)). 

Tibble illustrates the point. There, a class of employees who participated in 

an ERISA-governed 401(k) plan brought breach-of-fiduciary-duty claims against 

the plan fiduciaries. They claimed that the fiduciaries’ inclusion of several different 

types of investments in the plan “had been imprudent” because the fiduciaries had 

failed to investigate alternatives. 729 F.3d at 1118. The Tibble defendants argued that 

the three-year limitations period barred the suit because SPD and investment 

prospectuses had disclosed “the inclusion” of the investments to the plaintiffs more 

than three years before they filed suit. Id. at 1120.  
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This Court rejected that argument because it focused “on the wrong type of 

knowledge.” Id. As “the nature of the breach makes apparent,” the court explained, 

the “primary question” for claims alleging that a fiduciary “made an imprudent 

investment” is “whether the fiduciaries, at the time they engaged in the challenged 

transactions, employed the appropriate methods to investigate the merits of the 

investment and to structure the investment.” Id. at 1121, 1136 (internal citations and 

quotations omitted). As a result, “actual knowledge of the breach [will] usually 

require some knowledge of how the fiduciary selected the investment’”—not merely 

that the fiduciary selected the investment. Id at 1121 (emphasis added); see also Merck 

& Co., Inc. v. Reynolds, 559 U.S. 633, 649 (2010) (rejecting an interpretation of a 

constructive-knowledge statute of limitations that would start the clock running 

before a plaintiff learned (or should have learned) of the elements of his claim). 

The same is no less true when it comes to “substance-based claim[s]” of 

imprudence. Fish, 749 F.3d at 681 n.4. For challenges that turn on the “flaws in the 

substance of a fiduciary’s decision,” the “bare terms” of a transaction will also be 

insufficient to satisfy section 1113(2)—even if the transaction nevertheless would 

trigger the general limitations period because it constitutes the “last act[]” of the 

breach. Id. at 674, 681 n.4. That is because what drives whether the transaction (or 

investment) constituted a breach of the fiduciary’s duty of prudence is, by definition, 

whether it was prudent—a question external to the actual transaction. See Spragg, 
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11999 WL 51489, at *3 (explaining that the “disclosure” of the transaction itself is 

“not inherently a statutory breach of fiduciary duty” and so cannot “communicate” 

to the plaintiff that a breach had been committed). Determining whether the 

inclusion of a particular investment was imprudent thus will necessarily entail 

knowing something more than just the terms of the transaction (or even the 

strategy behind it). See Fish, 749 F.3d at 681 n.4 (pointing, as an example, to Brown v. 

Owens Corning Inv. Review Comm., 622 F.3d 564, 573 (6th Cir. 2010), which “charg[ed] 

plaintiffs with actual knowledge once allegedly imprudent investment ‘had lost 

almost all value’”). 

The upshot: To establish that a fiduciary breached its duty of prudence in 

making or adopting an investment, more than just knowledge of the investments is 

needed—whether that be “knowledge of the inadequate processes used by [the 

fiduciary],” Fish, 749 F.3d at 681 n.4; “an expert opinion,” id.; “actual harm,” id.; 

“knowledge of a transaction’s harmful consequences,” Gluck v. Unisys Corp., 960 F.2d 

1168, 1177 (3d Cir. 1992); some basic understanding of the industry standards; or some 

combination of the above. See also Waller, 32 F.3d at 1341; Maher v. Strachan Shipping 

Co., 68 F.3d 951, 956 (5th Cir. 1995); Fink, 772 F.2d at 957. Absent knowledge of some 

of these necessary prudence-related facts, a plaintiff cannot have “actual knowledge 

of the breach” under section 1113(2), and the general six-year period will apply. 
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B.   The district court incorrectly concluded that, for 
Sulyma’s imprudent-investment claims, knowledge of the 
transactions was sufficient to constitute knowledge of the 
breach. 

The district court departed from this settled understanding. It held that what 

mattered for section 1113(2) was when Sulyma gained knowledge of the transactions. 

ER-15. In its view, knowledge of the transactions alone—the plans’ investment in 

“hedge funds and private equity”—triggered section 1113(2) because the transactions 

provided “notice” to Sulyma of “how his investments were allocated.” Id.  

The district court’s approach contravenes the text of the statute and this 

Court’s precedent. Under its flawed approach, a court does not ask when a plaintiff 

learned “of the breach”; it asks instead when a plaintiff learned of the underlying 

transactions. But that “counter-textual interpretation,” Fernandez, 585 F. Supp. 2d at 

1186, violates a court’s “duty ‘to give effect, if possible, to every clause and word of a 

statute.’” Duncan v. Walker, 533 U.S. 167, 174 (2001). When interpreting ERISA (no 

less than any other statute), a court must “avoid rendering what Congress has 

plainly done . . . devoid of reason and effect.” Great-West Life & Annuity Ins. Co. v. 

Knudson, 534 U.S. 204, 217–18 (2002). Here, before holding that section 1113(2)’s shorter 

limitations period will bar a plaintiff’s claims, the district court was required to find 

that Sulyma had “specific knowledge of the actual breach of duty upon which he 

sues,” not just the underlying transactions. Brock, 809 F.3d at 755.  
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Waller squarely makes this point. There, the defendant argued that the three-

year exception “necessarily began to run at the point” the plaintiffs learned of the 

transactions giving rise to the claimed breach of fiduciary duty. 32 F.3d at 1341. 

Rejecting this argument, the Court “decline[d] to equate knowledge of the 

[transaction] with actual knowledge of the alleged breach of fiduciary duty.” Id. 

That was so, the Court explained, because “[t]he disclosure of a transaction that is 

not inherently a statutory breach of fiduciary duty . . . cannot communicate the 

existence of an underlying breach.” Id. (quoting Fink, 772 F.2d at 957).  

The district court offered no persuasive justification for departing from 

Waller’s rule. It suggested that Waller shouldn’t control because the question there 

arose on a motion to dismiss, ER-12, but Waller’s “underlying procedural posture[]” 

does not matter. Maher, 68 F.3d at 955 n.3 (explaining that “the determinative issue” 

in Waller was not the stage of the proceeding but “whether the plaintiffs had 

obtained actual knowledge of the alleged breach”). Instead, as this Court has 

instructed, what matters is whether there is “evidence” of the relevant “type of 

knowledge” sufficient to establish that the plaintiff knew of the breach more than 

three years before filing suit. Tibble, 729 F.3d at 1121.  

The court’s second justification for avoiding Waller—the Bluebook—fares no 

better. ER-12. It thought that it was free to disregard Waller because the panel used 

a “cf.” citation for the proposition that “[t]he disclosure of a transaction that is not 
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inherently a statutory breach of fiduciary duty . . . cannot communicate the 

existence of an underlying breach.” Id. But where a “cf.” citation “is the only 

source of authority cited,” the “only reasonable inference” is that the panel relied 

on the case “and the standard articulated therein.” Koval v. Gonzales, 418 F.3d 798, 

805 n.2 (7th Cir. 2005). So it is with Waller. And, were there any doubt, this Court 

directly adopted Waller’s “cf.”-cited proposition in Spragg. See 1999 WL 51489, at *3 

(treating Waller—“cf.” citation and all—as governing in the Ninth Circuit). 

To support its contrary interpretation, the district court misconstrued this 

Court’s decisions. It suggested that two competing lines of authority had developed 

within this Circuit over how to apply section 1113(2)’s “actual knowledge” standard. 

To one side, the court recognized Ziegler, Waller, and Spragg as embodying a rule 

that the shorter limitations period “cannot begin to run until the plaintiff has actual 

knowledge of the breach.” ER-12 (quoting Ziegler, 916 F.3d at 552). But the court saw 

Blanton as establishing a different “rule”—that “actual knowledge exists when a 

plaintiff knows of the transaction constituting the alleged violation.” ER-13. The 

court expressed “disagreement” with the Waller line and determined that Blanton 

“more likely expresses the current rule in the Ninth Circuit.” ER-12; ER-15 n.9. 

In relying on Blanton, the court committed a clear category error. That 

decision, unlike Waller and Ziegler, focuses on how section 1113(2) applies to a different 

type of violation—when the plaintiff claims that the fiduciary “engaged in a 
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prohibited transaction” under section 406 of ERISA (codified at 29 U.S.C. § 1106). 

Brown v. Am. Life Holdings, 190 F.3d 856, 859 (8th Cir. 1999); see Blanton, 760 F.2d at 

991–92. In those cases, “knowledge of the transaction would be actual knowledge of 

the breach,” Brown, 190 F.3d at 859, because the point at which a plaintiff has 

knowledge of the transaction and the “violation” under section 1113(2) are one and 

the same. See, e.g., 29 U.S.C. § 1106(1) (stating that a fiduciary “shall not cause the 

plan to engage” in transactions that transfer any assets to a “party in interest”). Put 

another way: For prohibited-transaction claims, knowledge of the transaction 

conveys actual knowledge of the breach or violation. 

Not so for claims (like those here) alleging that a fiduciary breached its duty 

to prudently invest plan assets. See Fernandez, 585 F. Supp. 2d at 1186 (explaining 

Blanton’s irrelevance to such claims because it “involved a prohibited transaction 

claim, not a breach of fiduciary duty claim”). As this Court has implicitly 

recognized, Blanton’s holding cannot be transplanted to claims alleging that “the 

fiduciary made an imprudent investment,” because, for these claims, “actual 

knowledge of the breach [will] usually require some knowledge of how the 

fiduciary selected the investment.” Tibble, 729 F.3d at 1121. As a result, section 1113(2) 

is “not satisfied” by showing that a plaintiff had knowledge of certain underlying 

facts—like that the fiduciary purchased or made certain investments—where those 

facts do not, in themselves, constitute the breach. Spragg, 1999 WL 51489, at *3. The 
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difference between Blanton and Waller turns, in other words, not on an application 

of different standards, but on the nature of the alleged violation. Reading Blanton 

any other way would contravene the plain meaning of section 1113(2). 

At base, the district court’s decision to extend Blanton outside the context of a 

claim involving a per se violation led it astray. Neither the plans’ asset allocation nor 

the logic behind it “equate” with the alleged breach, Waller, 32 F.3d at 1341, so 

Sulyma’s knowledge of that information (even assuming he had it) could not have 

triggered section 1113(2). The district court was wrong to hold that it did. 

C.   Under the correct standard, Sulyma’s claims are timely. 

Had the district court applied the correct standard of actual knowledge to 

Sulyma’s claims, it should have refused to impose section 1113(2)’s three-year 

exception. As we now explain, Sulyma was not aware of facts outside the 

limitations period that would have allowed him to gain “specific knowledge of the 

actual breach of duty upon which he sues.” Brock, 809 F.3d at 755.  

1.   Under the district court’s own definition of the 
underlying breach, Sulyma did not have “actual 
knowledge” of it. 

That Sulyma did not have actual knowledge of the breach is obvious even 

from the district court’s own effort to “define the underlying violation.” ER-14. As 

the court noted, Sulyma alleged that the defendants breached their fiduciary duties 

(1) “by investing a significant portion of assets in hedge funds and private equity, 
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‘which presented unconventional, significant and undue risks and unduly high fees 

and costs,’” and (2) by “‘adopting asset allocation models and asset allocations for 

participant accounts that departed dramatically from’ industry standards.’” ER-14–

15 (quoting ER-58). The court reasoned that these “imprudence allegations” turned 

on only “two pieces of information” found in the financial disclosures: “(1) the 

decision to invest in alternative investment options; and (2) to do so at a level 

between 25 and 40% of the assets.” ER-14. For the court, this information gave 

Sulyma actual knowledge of all “the elements of his imprudent allocation claims.” 

ER-24. That is wrong. Even on the court’s own understanding of Sulyma’s theory 

of breach (which, as discussed below, is incomplete), having knowledge of only this 

information is insufficient to know that there is a breach.  

Consider the elements of the above alleged breach: First, the fiduciaries 

invested a significant portion of assets in hedge funds and private equity, but these 

investments were (a) unconventional, (b) unduly risky, and (c) imposed unduly high 

fees and costs; and second, the fiduciaries adopted certain asset-allocation models, 

but these models (d) departed dramatically from industry standards. Even under 

this formulation, knowledge of the breach—that the fiduciaries’ investments were 

imprudent—would require knowing (a) through (d). But, even by the district court’s 

own reckoning, Sulyma would not have known any of these facts merely from 

consulting the financial disclosures because they did not disclose:  
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•   whether the hedge-fund and private-equity investments were 

“unconventional,” ER-15;  

•   whether they presented “undue risks,” id. (emphasis added);  

•   whether they presented “unduly high fees and costs,” id. (emphasis 

added); 

•   what were the prevailing “industry standards,” id.; or 

•   whether the investments deviated from those standards in a way that 

was imprudent, id. 

And so on. The district court’s own articulation of Sulyma’s claims recognized that 

these facts matter—indeed, are essential—to the breach, but the court’s analysis of 

what constitutes “knowledge of the breach” completely ignored them. ER-15–19 

(concluding that the financial disclosures “provided the information [Sulyma] 

needed to allege his current claims”). That is, standing alone, reversible error. See 

Waller, 32 F.3d at 1341. 

 And make no mistake: The district court did not—and could not—conclude 

that Sulyma had actual knowledge of any of these additional crucial facts. To the 

contrary, there is no dispute that Sulyma was an unsophisticated and inexperienced 

financial investor fresh out of college. He did not even know what a hedge fund 

was—much less what an imprudent allocation of hedge-fund investments would be, 

or what a standard target-date investment portfolio looked like. And the online 
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disclosures, even if he had seen them, would not have supplied the necessary 

information to know that there was a breach. At most, and construing these 

disclosures in a light most favorable to Sulyma, they would have only confused 

him, offering information that conflicted with his quarterly statements, while 

seeking to reassure him of the wisdom of the investments. But even if this could 

have tipped him off that “something was awry,” that “is not enough”—he must 

have had specific knowledge of facts sufficient to establish the actual breach upon 

which he sued. Absent such knowledge, the general six-year limitations period 

applies, and the claims are timely. See Fink, 772 F.2d at 958 (observing that, “because 

reasonable people cannot be expected to discern from . . . forms that a trustee has 

utterly failed to perform its fiduciary duties,” Congress “has provided a six year 

period in which to bring actions”). 

Ultimately, the disconnect between the district court’s view of what Sulyma 

knew—which, at most, was limited to knowledge of the plans’ asset allocation and 

an overview of the investment strategy—and its own definition of the underlying 

breach—which required knowledge of a host of additional prudence-based facts—

proves Waller’s point. See Spragg, 1999 WL 51489, at *3 (instructing that, under Waller, 

“‘actual knowledge of the breach or violation’ is not satisfied by knowledge that the 

fiduciary acted but, rather, requires knowledge of the breach of duty”). Had 

Sulyma filed suit knowing just the information that he could glean from the 
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disclosures, alleging that the investments were imprudent simply because the plan 

contained high percentages of hedge-fund and private-equity investments, his 

claims might have been dismissed for precisely the reason he could not have actual 

knowledge under section 1113(2) in the first place—because that information does 

not establish a breach. See Terraza v. Safeway Inc., 241 F. Supp. 3d 1057, 1070 (N.D. 

Cal. 2017) (explaining that, to “plausibly state[] a claim for breach of fiduciary 

duty,” a complaint must include allegations sufficient to allow a court to 

“reasonably infer” that “the fiduciary’s decision-making process was flawed”).  

2.   Sulyma did not have actual knowledge of the 
procedural aspects of his breach claims. 

As part of his breach claims, Sulyma also alleged a clear procedural 

component. See, e.g., ER-60; ER-73; ER-105; ER-120. In his complaint, Sulyma 

specifically and repeatedly alleged that a core part of the defendants’ breach was 

the imprudence of the process they undertook in reaching the investment decisions. 

For example, he alleged that the investment committee’s “unprecedented 

departures from prevailing standards” were “imprudent” because they were made 

“without appropriate consideration of facts and circumstances relevant to this 

investment course of action, including whether it was reasonably designed to 

further the purposes of the Plans, in light of risk of loss, opportunity for gain, 

diversification and liquidity and without a sufficiently rigorous, thorough and 

documented basis.” ER-60; see also ER-73 (listing this process failure as the first 
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common question). He also made clear that the fiduciaries’ breach included the 

failure “to properly conduct a prudent investigation” that was “sufficiently 

rigorous, thorough and well-documented” before “implementing such an 

unconventional, unduly cost and in many ways risky investment program.” ER-105; 

see also ER-120 (alleging that the fiduciaries “did not understand and failed to give 

appropriate consideration to these risks, or disregarded such risks, when they 

selected and maintained the asset allocation for the Intel TDPs”). These allegations 

unmistakably challenged the defendants’ use of an “imprudent process” as part and 

parcel of Sulyma’s breach claims. Fish, 749 F.3d at 681. 

That should have led the district court to stick to the general six-year 

limitations period, because Sulyma had no knowledge of whether the fiduciaries 

failed to “employ[] the appropriate methods to investigate the merits of the 

investment and to structure the investment,” Wright v. Oreg. Metallurgical Corp., 360 

F.3d 1090, 1097 (9th Cir. 2004), or whether they gave “appropriate consideration to 

[all the relevant] facts and circumstances” before undertaking their investment 

decisions or maintaining them, ER-73. All he knew was that his fiduciaries had 

selected two investments for him—one required, and the other the default—and 

decided to allocate roughly 22% to “short-term/other” investments such as 

“certificates of deposit (CDs), Treasury Bills and Money Market Instruments” 

(revealed elsewhere to be hedge funds, private equity, and commodities, and to be 
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much more than 22%). See, e.g., ER-604. That information is not nearly enough to 

demonstrate actual knowledge of an imprudent investment. See Fish, 749 F.3d at 681. 

And the district court did not cite any case holding that it is. 

Instead, the court disregarded Sulyma’s lack of knowledge about the 

procedures “used to evaluate the transaction[s],” id. at 681, based on a mistaken 

belief that he did not challenge “how Defendants made the decision to invest in 

alternative investments,” ER-20. And in the court’s view, Sulyma had “provided no 

facts to support” what it called the complaint’s “conclusory statements about 

process.” Id. That approach impermissibly “overlooked the procedural dimension 

of a fiduciary’s duties under ERISA.” Fish, 749 F.3d at 681–82.  

Like the plaintiffs in Tibble and Waller, Sulyma alleged a “specifically flawed” 

process. ER-22. As just explained, he did “not challenge the Defendants’ decision to 

include” hedge funds and private equity “solely on the ground” that they are risky 

investments unsuitable for any retirement plan, and such a per se challenge would 

be unlikely to succeed. Terraza, 241 F. Supp. 3d at 1069. Rather, he challenged “the 

Defendants’ decision to include those [investments] when viewed in light of their 

expense, their performance, and the investment portfolio as a whole.” Id. Those 

allegations inescapably “go to the prudence of the Defendants’ underlying decision-

making process.” Id.; see also Lorenz v. Safeway, 241 F. Supp. 3d 1005, 1016 (N.D. Cal. 

2017) (holding that, under Tibble, financial disclosures that notify a participant of the 
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challenged investments do “not provide him with actual knowledge regarding the 

[defendants’] decision to include these investment[s],” and so do “not trigger the 

three-year statute of limitations”). 

The district court suggested that Tibble and Waller could be distinguished 

because Sulyma did not include specific allegations of “an infirm bidding process or 

self-dealing.” ER-22. But the absence of a plaintiff’s “actual knowledge” of an 

imprudent process does not turn on such specific allegations—as even Tibble itself 

makes clear. To the contrary, a complaint that alleges, as here, that a fiduciary 

breached its duties under ERISA “by selecting and retaining opaque, high-cost, 

and poor-performing investments instead of other available and more prudent 

alternative investments,” or by “offer[ing] an overconcentration of these opaque 

investment options,” goes directly “to the prudence of the [fiduciary’s] underlying 

decision-making process.” Terraza, 241 F. Supp. 3d at 1069. Tibble is “therefore not 

distinguishable on this ground.” Id.  

Indeed, courts have repeatedly rejected the district court’s half-measure 

approach to determining whether a plaintiff has “actual knowledge of the breach.” 

See, e.g., id. at 1068–69; Martin v. Pacific Lumber Co., 1993 WL 832744, *2 (N.D. Cal. 

Jan. 15, 1993) (finding no limitations bar because “knowledge of the selection is not 

knowledge of a breach”). A court is not free to blue-pencil a complaint’s allegations 

in service of its limitations analysis. Just the opposite: When “deciding the statute of 
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limitations issue,” a court must “assume” that the plaintiff “can prove his 

allegations that [the defendant] acted improperly.” Mosesian v. Peat, Marwick, 

Mitchell & Co., 727 F.2d 873, 878 n.6 (9th Cir. 1984). And it may not refuse to consider 

a plaintiff’s actual knowledge of the procedural aspects of his breach claim simply 

because it believes that a plaintiff’s “true complaint is about the substance of the 

decision, not about the process undertaken in reaching the decision,” Fish, 749 F.3d 

at 681. Regardless of whether “the harm alleged by plaintiff was based on the 

substantive terms of [a transaction],” a complaint that contains allegations of an 

imprudent process cannot be time-barred based on a plaintiff’s knowledge of the 

transactions. Id. (reversing a district court’s application of section 1113(2) because it 

mistakenly believed that, “for no matter how much process [the fiduciary] 

undertook, plaintiffs would still be complaining that the ultimate decision that set 

the redemption price too high was imprudent”).  

This rule reflects the settled understanding that breach claims “frequently 

defy particularized identification at the pleading stage,” Concha v. London, 62 F.3d 

1493, 1503 (9th Cir. 1995), and that “ERISA plaintiffs generally lack the inside 

information necessary to make out their claims in detail unless and until discovery 

commences,” Braden v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 588 F.3d 585, 598 (8th Cir. 1999). As this 

Court has put it: “Where a fiduciary exercises discretionary control over a plan, 

and assumes the responsibilities that this control entails, the victim of his 
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misconduct often will not, at the time he files his complaint, be in a position to 

describe with particularity the events constituting the alleged misconduct. These 

facts will frequently be in the exclusive possession of the breaching fiduciary.” 

Concha, 62 F.3d at 1503. This case is no exception. Discovery will reveal whether the 

process was in fact adequate. For now, what matters is that Sulyma “did not have 

actual knowledge of the violations [he] allege[s] because the evidence does not 

show [he] had any indication that any of these procedural failures had occurred.” 

Fish, 749 F.3d at 682. 

That rule should have carried the day here. Sulyma specifically challenged 

the actual selection, and continued maintenance, of his plan investments—his 

complaint contains numerous pages of allegations “from which a factfinder could 

infer that the process was inadequate,” Allen v. GreatBanc Trust Co., 835 F.3d 670, 678 

(7th Cir. 2016). Those allegations specifically included the fact that similar 

investment products had significantly smaller stakes in alternative investments, and 

the fact that hedge funds and private equity have consistently underperformed 

other asset classes, and yet the investment committee saw fit to increase the plan 

investments in those assets by an order of magnitude, causing predictably large 

losses for the participants. ER-86–92; ER-105–14. “Although [he] could not describe 

in detail the process [the committee] used, no such precision was essential.” Allen, 

835 F.3d at 678; see also Terraza, 241 F. Supp. 3d at 1070. These allegations are 
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“sufficient to raise a plausible inference that the investments at issue were so plainly 

[imprudent] at the relevant times that an adequate investigation would have 

revealed their imprudence, or that a superior alternative investment was readily 

apparent such that an adequate investigation would have uncovered that 

alternative.” Pension Benefit Guar. Corp. v. Morgan Stanley Inv. Mgmt. Inc., 

712 F.3d 705 (2d Cir. 2013).  

As a result, to trigger section 1113(2), the defendants shoulder the burden of 

establishing that there is no genuine dispute that Sulyma knew of the process-

related flaws more than three years before filing suit. The record reveals just the 

opposite. Because Sulyma lacked (and still lacks) any “knowledge of how the 

fiduciary selected the investment,” Tibble, 729 F.3d at 1121, or whether alternative 

investments options were considered, he did not have actual knowledge of the 

breach more than three years before filing suit. 

II.   The district court effectively applied a constructive-knowledge 
standard instead of the actual-knowledge standard imposed by 
Congress. 

 Even if the district court were right about what it means to have “knowledge 

of the breach” in an imprudent-investment case, it still erred by applying an 

incorrect standard of “actual knowledge.” Rather than ask when Sulyma actually 

knew that hedge funds, private equity, and commodities were 30 to 40% of his plan 

assets, the court “attribute[d] actual knowledge” to him based on disclosures that 
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Intel’s administrative committee “made available” online. ER-8; ER-15; ER-18–19. 

Specifically, it relied on the fact that “a Summary Plan Description was made 

available” that mentioned investments in hedge funds and private equity (but not 

their amounts) and referred him to other documents that contained allocation 

information. ER-15–16. The court acknowledged that Sulyma “never looked at 

[these] documents,” and the statements he received in the mail “sa[id] nothing 

about investments in private equity or hedge funds.” ER8–9. Yet the court 

determined that he had actual knowledge of these investments, on the belief that 

“[i]t would be improper to allow [his] claims to survive merely because he did not 

look further into the disclosures made to him.” ER-20. 

 This too was error, because it confuses actual knowledge with constructive 

knowledge. Actual knowledge “must be distinguished from ‘constructive’ 

knowledge,” “inquiry notice,” or any other form of “imputed knowledge”—none 

of which “triggers the three-year limit of § 1312(2).” Fish, 749 F.3d at 678–79, 683; see 

also L.I Head Start Child Dev. Servs., Inc. v. Econ. Opportunity Comm’n, Inc., 710 F.3d 57, 67 

(2d Cir. 2013) (“Under the three-year limitations period in subsection (2), actual 

knowledge is strictly construed and constructive knowledge will not suffice.”); Brock, 

809 F.2d at 754–55 (reversing application of “constructive, rather than actual, 

knowledge,” and noting that Congress “did not desire that those who violate [their] 

trust could easily find refuge in a time bar”); Merck, 559 U.S. at 647 (distinguishing 
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section 1113(2)’s actual-knowledge standard with a constructive-knowledge standard 

that includes “facts any reasonably diligent plaintiff would know”).4 “When a party 

‘knows’ something, they have ‘actual knowledge’ of it, meaning there is ‘direct and 

clear knowledge.’” United States v. Myers, 772 F.3d 213, 220 (5th Cir. 2014) (quoting 

Black’s Law Dictionary 950 (9th ed. 2009)). But “when a party ‘should have known’ 

something, they have ‘constructive knowledge,’ which is a lesser standard meaning 

‘knowledge that one using reasonable care or diligence should have.’” Id. 

 Although the court understood that constructive knowledge “does not 

suffice,” ER-10, it applied what amounts to a constructive-knowledge standard. The 

court did not find that Sulyma actually knew that his plan accounts were overly 

invested in hedge funds outside the limitations period; it found the opposite, 

acknowledging that he was not personally aware of that information. That should 

have been the end of the analysis. Instead, the court reasoned that Sulyma should 

                                         
4 There is no question that constructive knowledge is insufficient here. When 

Congress “intends to incorporate a constructive knowledge requirement into an 
ERISA statute of limitations, it ordinarily does so explicitly, e.g., giving a plaintiff 
three years to bring suit after the earliest date on which he ‘acquired or should have 
acquired actual knowledge of the existence of such cause of action.’” Caputo v. Pfizer 
Inc., 267 F.3d 181, 194 (2d Cir. 2001) (quoting 29 U.S.C. § 1370(f)(2)(A)). Here, as 
already explained, “the ERISA limitations provision, § 1113, speaks solely in terms of 
actual, not constructive, knowledge.” Radiology Ctr., S.C. v. Stifel, Nicolaus & Co., 919 
F.2d 1216, 1222 (7th Cir. 1990). And a “constructive knowledge provision was 
expressly removed from § 413(2) in 1987,” leaving only the “actual knowledge” 
component. Caputo, 267 F.3d at 194. Thus, “[o]nly actual knowledge will do.” 
Radiology Ctr., 919 F.2d at 1222. 
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have known this information because he should have read the documents (and also 

should have known that the information they contained, unlike the information 

found in the quarterly statements, was accurate). Maybe so.5 But the question of 

what someone “should have” done—but did not in fact do—is a question about 

what may be “attributed by law,” not what existed in fact. Krys v. Pigott, 749 F.3d 117, 

127 (2d Cir. 2014). ERISA does not permit such a “should have” standard to trigger 

section 1113(s)’s shorter three-year bar for fiduciary-breach claims. See Fink, 

(explaining that, were it otherwise, “the lengthy list of fiduciary duties under 

ERISA would mean nothing more than caveat emptor”). By finding that Sulyma had 

“actual knowledge” of something he did not actually know, the court improperly 

imputed knowledge to him that he did not have, and thus watered down the 

standard deliberately chosen by Congress. 

 As this Court has recognized, “plan participants who have been provided 

with [a Summary Plan Description] are charged with constructive knowledge of the 

contents of the document.” Scharff v. Raytheon Co. Short Term Disability Plan, 581 F.3d 

                                         
5 Or maybe not: A court “cannot fault” a “plaintiff for having faith in the 

independent trustee supposedly protecting the Plan participants’ interests”—
particularly when he is an inexperienced investor like Sulyma. Fish, 749 F.3d at 684. 
The fiduciaries betrayed that faith here. The only documents they sent him directly 
(the quarterly statements) indicated that he had roughly 22% of his assets in 
investments that “include[d] certificates of deposit (CDs), Treasury Bills and 
Money Market Instruments,” ER-604—when in truth 30% and 40% of his 401(k) 
and retirement plan assets, respectively, were targeted to be invested in hedge 
funds, private equity, and commodities. ER-329; ER-365. 
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899, 908 (9th Cir. 2009) (emphasis added); see also Conley v. Pitney Bowes, 34 F.3d 714, 

718 (8th Cir. 1994). But they do not have actual knowledge of the contents unless they 

actually received and read the document. Here, this would have required them to 

take a number of affirmative steps, including creating a username and password, 

logging in, successfully navigating a website, and clicking through several links to 

arrive at the fact sheet. Even constructive knowledge is debatable on these facts; 

actual knowledge is a bridge too far. “[A] court applying § 1113(2) must take care to 

resist the temptation to slide toward reliance upon constructive knowledge or 

imputed knowledge, neither of which is actual knowledge.” Fish, 749 F.3d at 679.  

 The only potential authority for the court’s reasoning is a footnote in a 

district-court decision saying that actual knowledge does not require proof that the 

plaintiffs “actually saw or read the documents” conveying the information, and a 

case relying on that footnote. Young v. Gen. Motors Inv. Mgmt. Corp., 550 F. Supp. 2d 

416, 419 n.3 (S.D.N.Y. 2008), aff’d on other grounds 325 Fed. App’x 31 (2d Cir. 2009); see 

Brown, 622 F.3d at 571. But the footnote in Young does not cite anything that supports 

this proposition, and the case is distinguishable because the plaintiffs were given the 

documents directly and did not deny reading them (arguing instead that the 

defendant hadn’t offered specific proof that they had done so, which would have 

been nearly impossible).  
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 And the plaintiffs in Brown, a case arising out of the fiduciaries’ failure to sell 

stock before a bankruptcy made it worthless, had actual knowledge of the key facts: 

“they were aware of [the] bankruptcy filing and that their investment in the [stock] 

was virtually worthless”; and they knew that the fiduciaries “were not locked into 

that particular investment” and “someone had the power to take steps to protect 

their Plan investments.” 622 F.3d at 570–71. True, the court noted that “at least 

some participants were provided with access to [additional documents],” and the 

court attributed to these particular participants actual knowledge of the contents of 

these documents, but this was dicta because the court had already concluded that 

all the plaintiffs had gained actual knowledge outside the three-year period. Id. at 

571. It should not be followed here. 

 Ultimately, the animating concern underlying these two decisions (as well as 

the decision below) is that faithful application of the actual-knowledge standard 

could be used “to excuse willful blindness by a plaintiff.” Id. (quoting Edes, 417 F.3d 

at 142); see also Young, 550 F. Supp. 2d at 419 n.3 (quoting same). But this ignores the 

fact that the general six-year limitations period remains in place, and that Congress 

clearly wanted the three-year exception to be narrow. And there is no serious risk 

that plan participants will intentionally disregard financial information that is 

presented to them in the hopes that it will one day allow them to use the general 

six-year limitations period in the event that the information would have revealed 
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an ERISA violation. Moreover, as the Seventh Circuit recently explained, there is 

a “fundamental problem with reliance upon willful blindness to support summary 

judgment in a civil case.” Fish, 749 F.3d at 684. Unlike constructive knowledge, 

negligence, or recklessness, willful blindness “implies a deliberate and conscious 

decision not to pursue the facts.” Id. Thus, even assuming that it “has a place in the 

analysis of the ‘actual knowledge’ three-year statute of limitations under § 1113(2),” 

willful blindness “would almost certainly present a genuine issue of material fact to 

be resolved by the finder of fact at trial.” Id. at 685. Holding the claims time-barred 

was therefore inappropriate.  

In short, section 1113(2) does not hand federal courts the power to charge plan 

participants with knowledge of documents or materials they did not read. The 

district court’s use of constructive-knowledge principles to justify barring Sulyma’s 

claims is, standing alone, error. 

III.   The district court erred by holding that Sulyma’s co-fiduciary 
and failure-to-monitor claims are time-barred. 

The court’s flawed limitations analysis also inescapably infected its belief that 

Sulyma’s co-fiduciary liability and failure-to-monitor claims are time-barred.   

A. Alongside the imprudent-investment breach claims, Sulyma squarely 

pressed two distinct and well-established additional claims: First, that the finance-

committee defendants had breached their ongoing and continuous obligation to 

monitor the other fiduciaries, and second that each of the defendant fiduciaries 
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should, themselves, have understood that a breach had occurred and brought suit. 

ER-24. But, not unlike the earlier claims, the court performed a freewheeling merits 

analysis under the guise of applying ERISA’s statute of limitations to bar the 

claims. How do we know? The court held that both claims are “time-barred” 

because the claims “rest[ed] on bald assertions and a recitation of legal elements.” 

ER-25. And it faulted Sulyma for “fail[ing] to uncover any facts in discovery 

suggesting a failure to monitor” or establishing “grounds for imposing co-fiduciary 

liability.” Id. That comes nowhere close to satisfying the appropriate inquiry 

required to rule that a claim is barred under a statute of limitations. See Mosesian, 

727 F.2d at 878 n.6.  

As it happens, the court was likely led astray by the defendants’ own 

confusion. Although the defendants purported to argue that Sulyma’s co-fiduciary 

and failure-to-monitor claims are time-barred, that argument was premised on 

their own version of a failure-to-state-a-claim theory. In their view, an ERISA 

plaintiff “cannot state a claim for co-fiduciary liability without first stating a claim 

for breach of fiduciary duty” and, “in the absence of a colorable claim for a 

primary breach, a co-fiduciary claim ‘necessarily fails as a matter of law.’” Dist. Ct. 

ECF No. 122, at 25. But putting the soundness of that argument to one side, it is not 

directed to any limitations-based defense and is therefore irrelevant. The court’s 

decision holding these claims time-barred was error. 
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B. Regardless, the district court also offered no meaningful or reasoned 

explanation for concluding that these two claims are time-barred. As this Court has 

explained, regardless of whether a participant’s primary breach claim is time-

barred, a separate breach claim may nevertheless lie against a co-fiduciary for 

failing to prudently act in remedying another fiduciary’s breach. Barker v. Am. Mobil 

Power Corp., 64 F.3d 1397, 1403 (9th Cir. 1995) (allowing co-fiduciary breach claims to 

proceed even where primary breach-of-fiduciary claims was time-barred). In the 

course of that decision, this Court never once suggested that a primary breach 

claim that becomes time-barred necessarily bars a co-fiduciary claim as well. Other 

cases make the same basic point. See Martin, 966 F.2d at 1089 (holding that “the end-

point of the statute of limitations on the primary claim will mark the start of the 

limitations period on the derivative claim”); see also Brown, 622 F.3d at 576 (same). 

The district court’s cursory analysis failed to even acknowledge its departure from 

this understanding. 

As a result, even if Sulyma had actual knowledge of the alleged breach as 

early as 2012, for his co-fiduciary claims, the statute of limitations could not begin 

to run until the end-point of the limitations period on his primary claims—which, 

in the district court’s view, was 2015. The court’s conclusion that these claims are 

likewise time-barred should be rejected.  

  Case: 17-15864, 12/29/2017, ID: 10708356, DktEntry: 16, Page 61 of 64



 

 56 

CONCLUSION 

The judgment of the district court should be reversed. 

Respectfully submitted, 
 

/s/ Matthew W.H. Wessler   
Matthew W.H. Wessler 
Jonathan E. Taylor 
GUPTA WESSLER PLLC 
1900 L Street, NW, Suite 312 
Washington, DC 20036 
(202) 888-1741 
matt@guptawessler.com 
 
Tillman J. Breckenridge 
Gregory Y. Porter 
Ryan T. Jenny 
BAILEY & GLASSER LLP 
1054 31st Street, NW, Suite 230 
Washington, DC 20007 
(202) 463-2101 
 
R. Joseph Barton 
BLOCK & LEVITON LLP  
1735 20th Street, NW 
Washington, DC 20009 
 (202) 734-7046 
 
Joseph A. Creitz 
CREITZ & SEREBIN LLP 
250 Montgomery Street, Suite 1410 
San Francisco, CA 94104 
(415) 269-3675 

 
December 29, 2017    Counsel for Plaintiff-Appellant 

  Case: 17-15864, 12/29/2017, ID: 10708356, DktEntry: 16, Page 62 of 64



 

CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE WITH RULE 32(a)(7)(B) 
 

I hereby certify that my word processing program, Microsoft Word, counted 

13,417 words in the foregoing brief, exclusive of the portions excluded by Rule 32(f). 

       /s/ Matthew W.H. Wessler   
December 29, 2017     Matthew W. H. Wessler 
 
 
 

STATEMENT OF RELATED CASES 

 As required by Circuit Rule 28-2.6, Plaintiff-Appellant states that he is not 

aware of any case pending before this Court that presents related legal issues.  

  Case: 17-15864, 12/29/2017, ID: 10708356, DktEntry: 16, Page 63 of 64



 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that on December 29, 2017, I electronically filed the foregoing 

brief with the Clerk of the Court of the U.S. Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit 

by using the Appellate CM/ECF system. All participants are registered CM/ECF 

users, and will be served by the Appellate CM/ECF system. 

 
/s/ Matthew W.H. Wessler   
Matthew W.H. Wessler 

 
 

  Case: 17-15864, 12/29/2017, ID: 10708356, DktEntry: 16, Page 64 of 64


